IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC11-1913

(Third DCA Case No. 3D10-856)

JOSE LAZARO RODRIGUEZ,

Petitioner,

VS.

MIAMI-DADE COUNTY,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S INTIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

On Petition for Discretionary Jurisdiction to Review Conflict Certified by Third District Court of Appeal

Barbara A. Silverman
Florida Bar Number 221384
Curtis B. Miner
Florida Bar Number 885681
Ervin A. Gonzalez
Florida Bar Number 500720
COLSON HICKS EIDSON
255 Alhambra Circle, Penthouse
Coral Gables, FL 33134
Telephone: (305) 476-7400

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The district court erred in holding that it had certiorari jurisdiction to review the trial court's denial of a motion for summary judgment based on grounds of sovereign immunity. That holding directly and expressly conflicts with Florida A & M University Board of Trustees v. Thomas, 19 So.3d 445, and Pinellas Suncoast Transit Authority v. Wrye, 750 So.2d 30, in which the Fifth District and Second District held that a district court lacks certiorari jurisdiction to review the denial of a motion for summary judgment or a motion to dismiss, respectively, based on the assertion of a defense of sovereign immunity. In addition, the district court's decision conflicts with and misapplies this Court's opinion in Department of Education v. Roe, 679 So.2d 756, which held that interlocutory review is not available for a nonfinal order denying a governmental entity's claim of sovereign immunity as a defense to a state law cause of action. In *Roe*, this Court expressly rejected the conclusion reached by the Third District here, that having to await postjudgment review of interlocutory orders on sovereign immunity would cause irreparable harm that cannot be corrected on final appeal. *Id.* at 759. Thus, the jurisdictional prerequisites for the exercise of certiorari jurisdiction have not been met and the district court lacked jurisdiction to grant the petition for certiorari.

The district court also erred in granting the petition on the merits and holding that Jose Rodriguez's negligence claim against the County was barred by sovereign immunity as a matter of law. The trial court properly denied summary judgment based on the existence of disputed issues of material fact. In holding that the County was sovereignly immune as a matter of law, the district court ignored the disputed issues of fact and failed to view the evidence in the light most favorable to the plaintiff as required on summary judgment. The actions of Officer Hernandez at the burglary scene which resulted in injury to Jose Rodriguez were operational, not discretionary, and therefore the County is not shielded from liability for Officer Hernandez's conduct. Contrary to the district court's opinion, there was no pressing emergency here requiring Officer Hernandez to choose between shooting Mr. Rodriguez and risking the safety of other members of the public. The evidence raises factual issues which should be determined at trial by a jury. The district court erred in making these findings as a matter of law and holding that this action was barred by sovereign immunity. Its decision should be reversed and this matter remanded to the trial court for resolution by the trier of fact.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT HAVE CERTIORARI JURISDICTION TO REVIEW THE TRIAL COURT'S DENIAL OF THE COUNTY'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON GROUNDS OF SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY

As certified, the Third District's opinion below, holding that it had certiorari jurisdiction to review the trial court's denial of a motion for summary judgment based on grounds of sovereign immunity, directly and expressly conflicts with the decisions of the Fifth District in *Florida A & M University Board of Trustees v. Thomas*, 19 So.3d 445, and the Second District in *Pinellas Suncoast Transit Authority v. Wrye*, 750 So.2d 30. In each of those cases, the Fifth District and Second District held that it lacked certiorari jurisdiction to review the denial of a motion for summary judgment or a motion to dismiss, respectively, based on the assertion of a defense of sovereign immunity. In direct conflict, here the Third District held that it had certiorari jurisdiction to review the denial of the motion for summary judgment based on grounds of sovereign immunity, and granted the petition.

In addition, the opinion below conflicts with and misapplies this Court's opinion in *Department of Education v. Roe*, 679 So.2d 756, which denied interlocutory review of a nonfinal order denying a motion to dismiss a negligence

claim based on a defense of sovereign immunity. That opinion was relied on by the Fifth District in holding that it lacked certiorari jurisdiction in *Thomas*, 19 So.3d at 446. Similarly, in holding that it lacked jurisdiction in *Wrye*, 750 So.2d at 30, the Second District aligned itself with the First District's opinion in *Department of Education v. Roe*, 656 So.2d 507 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995), which was subsequently approved by this Court in *Roe*, 679 So.2d at 759.⁴ The opinion below also conflicts with the decision in *Citizens Prop. Ins. Corp. v. San Perdido Ass'n, Inc.*, 46 So.3d 1051 (Fla. 1st DCA 2010), *review granted*, 56 So.3d 765 (Fla. 2011), in which the First District applied *Roe* to preclude certiorari review of the denial of a motion to dismiss based on sovereign immunity. Therefore, this Court has jurisdiction to resolve the conflict. Art. V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const.

Asserting sovereign immunity, the School Board of Miami-Dade County petitions for a writ of certiorari, asking that we quash a trial court's order denying its motion to dismiss the negligence action brought by the estate of a child killed at a school crosswalk. Relying on Department of Education v. Roe, 679 So.2d 757 (Fla. 1996), we conclude that we do not have jurisdiction to review this denial of the motion to dismiss based on sovereign immunity.

_

⁴ In *School Bd. of Miami-Dade County v. Leyva*, 975 So.2d 576 (Fla. 3d DCA 2008), the Third District itself relied on *Roe* in holding it did not have certiorari jurisdiction to review denial of a motion to dismiss based on grounds of sovereign immunity:

Certiorari is an extraordinary remedy that should not be used to circumvent the interlocutory appeal rule which authorizes appeal from only a few types of nonfinal orders and is available only in limited circumstances. Reeves v. Fleetwood Homes of Fla., Inc., 889 So.2d 812, 822 (Fla. 2004); Jaye v. Royal Saxon, Inc., 720 So.2d 214, 214-15 (Fla. 1998); Martin-Johnson, Inc. v. Savage, 509 So.2d 1097, 1098-99 (Fla. 1987), superseded by statute on other grounds, § 768.72, Fla. Stat. (1989), as recognized in Williams v. Oken, 62 So.3d 1129, 1134 (Fla. 2011). "It is well settled that to obtain a writ of certiorari, there must exist '(1) a departure from the essential requirements of the law, (2) resulting in material injury for the remainder of the case (3) that cannot be corrected on postjudgment appeal." Reeves, 889 So.2d at 822 (quoting Bd. of Regents v. Snyder, 826 So.2d 382, 387) (Fla. 2d DCA 2002)). A court's grant of certiorari is subject to an abuse of discretion standard of review. Williams v. Oken, 62 So.3d at 1132.

This Court has repeatedly emphasized the very limited availability of certiorari review. As explained in *Reeves*:

This Court has held that "common law certiorari is an extraordinary remedy and should not be used to circumvent the interlocutory appeal rule which authorizes appeal from only a few types of non-final orders." *Martin-Johnson, Inc. v. Savage,* 509 So.2d 1097, 1098 (Fla. 1987); *see also Belair v. Drew,* 770 So.2d 1164, 1166 (Fla. 2000); *Jaye v. Royal Saxon, Inc.,* 720 So.2d 214, 214-15 (Fla. 1998). Further, we have written: "A

non-final order for which no appeal is provided by Rule 9.130 is reviewable by petition for certiorari only in limited circumstances." *Martin-Johnson, Inc.* 509 So.2d at 1099; *see also Brooks v. Owens,* 97 So.2d 693, 695 (Fla. 1957)("This court will review an interlocutory order in law only under exceptional circumstances."). Limited certiorari review is based upon the rationale that "piecemeal review of nonfinal trial orders will impede the orderly administration of justice and serve only to delay and harass." *Jaye,* 720 So.2d at 215. As the appellate rules committee commented on the interaction of rules 9.030 and 9.130:

The advisory committee was aware that the common law writ of certiorari is available at any time and did not intend to abolish that writ. However, because that writ provides a remedy only if the petitioner meets the heavy burden of showing that a clear departure from the essential requirements of law has resulted in otherwise irreparable harm, it is extremely rare that erroneous interlocutory rulings can be corrected by resort to common law certiorari. It is anticipated that because the most urgent interlocutory orders are appealable under this rule, there will be very few cases in which common law certiorari will provide relief.

Fla.R.App. P. 9.130 (Committee Notes, 1977 Amendment).

Reeves, 889 So.2d at 822.

In *Department of Education v. Roe*, 679 So.2d 756, this Court held that interlocutory review is not available for a nonfinal order denying a governmental entity's claim of sovereign immunity as a defense to a state law cause of action. In

reaching that conclusion, the Court rejected the argument that suits against governmental entities grounded upon the statutory waiver of sovereign immunity were analogous to, and should be treated similarly to, suits against public officials involving claims of qualified immunity and declined to extend its decision in *Tucker v. Resha*, 648 So.2d 1187 (Fla. 1994), to nonfinal orders denying a claim of sovereign immunity. In light of that decision, the exercise of certiorari jurisdiction by the Third District here violates the principle that certiorari should not be used to circumvent the interlocutory appeal rule.

As a jurisdictional prerequisite to the exercise of certiorari jurisdiction, and prior to reaching the issue of whether the trial court's order departs from the essential requirements of law, a district court must determine that the petitioner has met its burden of establishing that it has suffered an irreparable injury that cannot be remedied on direct appeal. *Jaye v. Royal Saxon, Inc.*, 720 So.2d at 215 ("[I]t is settled law that, as a condition precedent to invoking a district court's certiorari jurisdiction, the petitioning party must establish that it has suffered an irreparable harm that cannot be remedied on direct appeal."); *Commonwealth Land Title Ins. Co. v. Higgins*, 975 So.2d 1169, 1176-77 (Fla. 1st DCA 2008); *Sardinas v. Lagares*, 805 So.2d 1024, 1025 (Fla. 3d DCA 2001); *Beekie v. Morgan*, 751 So.2d 694, 698 n. 4 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000); *Bared & Co. v. McGuire*, 670 So.2d 153, 156-

57 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996). Here that jurisdictional condition precedent was not met and, therefore, the district court lacked certiorari jurisdiction.

Denial of a motion for summary judgment or a motion to dismiss will generally not be reviewed through certiorari because the petitioner will have an adequate remedy on final appeal. *South Broward Hosp. Dist. v. Dupont*, 683 So.2d 1135 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996); *Brown & Williamson Tobacco Corp. v. Carter*, 680 So.2d 546 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996). And, the authorities are clear that the expense and inconvenience of an unnecessary trial is considered insufficient harm to justify certiorari review. *See Martin-Johnson, Inc. v. Savage*, 509 So.2d at 1100; *Sunrise Gift & Souvenir, Inc. v. Marcotte*, 698 So.2d 345, 346 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997); *Stoever v. Vedder Homes, Inc.*, 697 So.2d 1247, 1248 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997); *Brown & Williamson*, 680 So.2d 546.

In *Roe*, this Court expressly rejected the conclusion reached by the Third District here, that if the County is entitled to sovereign immunity the trial itself constitutes the harm, and the benefit of sovereign immunity will be lost by having to await postjudgment review:

Florida has agreed to be sued in its own courts for tort actions. § 768.28. Further, forcing the state to wait until a final judgment before appealing the issue of sovereign immunity does not present the same concerns that exist in the area of qualified immunity. For example, public officials who defend tort suits against the state are not

sued in their personal capacities. As a result, defending these suits is not likely to have a chilling effect on the exercise of public officials' discretion in the discharge of their official duties. In addition, although the state will have to bear the expense of continuing litigation, the benefit of immunity from liability, should the state ultimately prevail on the sovereign immunity issue, will not be lost simply because review must wait until after final judgment.

Roe, 679 So.2d at 759. In light of that clear statement, it cannot be said that having to await postjudgment review of interlocutory orders on sovereign immunity will cause the County irreparable harm that cannot be corrected on final appeal. Therefore, the jurisdictional prerequisite to the exercise of certiorari jurisdiction has not been met.

Similarly, in *Stephens v. Geoghegan*, 702 So.2d 517 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997), claims were brought against a municipality and several police officers in both their individual and official capacities. The defendants' motions for summary judgment on grounds of qualified and absolute immunity were denied by the trial court and the defendants petitioned for certiorari. The district court granted certiorari with respect to the claims brought against the officers in their individual capacities but dismissed the portion of the petition challenging the denial of the defendants' motion in their official capacities and in conjunction with the municipality. *Id.* at 527. It explained: "*The material harm, irreparable on postjudgment appeal, that*

defendants, that is, denial of immunity from defending a suit, with its attendant expenses, diversion of official energy and deterrence of able citizens from pursuing public employment, *is simply not present in a suit against a municipality.*" *Id. See also CSX Transportation. Inc. v. Kissimmee Utility Authority.*, 153 F.3d 1283, 1286 (11th Cir. 1998)(citing *Roe*).

Likewise, in Citizens Prop. Ins. Corp. v. San Perdido Ass'n, Inc., 46 So.3d 1051, the district court declined interlocutory review by appeal, prohibition or certiorari, of the denial of Citizens' motion to dismiss based on grounds of sovereign immunity. Id. at 1053. In reaching that decision, the First District found that, "[a]s Roe suggested, there is no irreparable harm in requiring that appellate consideration of the sovereign immunity claim await the entry of a final judgment." Id. That case is presently pending before this Court for review in Citizens Property Ins. Corp. v. San Perdido Ass'n, Inc., No. SC10-2433 (review granted, Feb. 17, 2011).

The Third District reached the exactly opposite result here. It based its determination that it had certiorari jurisdiction to review the trial court's denial of summary judgment on grounds of sovereign immunity on its conclusion that the County would suffer irreparable harm if it were required to go to trial because if it

is entitled to sovereign immunity "it is the trial itself that constitutes the harm." Op. at 13-14 & n.4. That conclusion is a misapplication of this Court's decision in *Roe*, and directly and expressly conflicts with the district cases cited above.

In holding that it had certiorari jurisdiction in this case, the Third District stated: "[W]e conclude that in cases where immunity from suit rather than solely immunity from liability is at issue, our intervention by way of certiorari is appropriate." Op. 10 & n.3 (citing Roe, 679 So.2d at 758). However, as the district court recognized in its opinion below, "[in Roe,] the court distinguished the immunity from suit accorded to public officials which is effectively forfeited if trial is permitted, from the immunity from liability accorded to the sovereign, an immunity not lost if trial is permitted." Op. 6, n. 2. As this Court noted in Roe, rejecting the DOE's argument that the public policy that animates sovereign immunity is similar to the public policy that animates qualified immunity, sovereign immunity is distinguishable from the immunity from suit accorded by qualified immunity because qualified immunity is rooted in the need to protect public officials from undue interference, whereas sovereign immunity is not. Roe, 679 So.2d at 758-59.

The negligence claims in the present case were brought solely against the County; Rodriguez did not assert any claims against former Officer Hernandez or

any other public official in an individual capacity. The County's defense is one of sovereign immunity against liability. As this Court found in *Roe*, the benefit of such immunity from liability, should the County ultimately prevail on the sovereign immunity issue, will not be lost simply because review must wait until after final judgment.

The Third District's decision here ignores an important factor. The Florida Constitution grants the legislature the power to waive sovereign immunity. See Art. X, § 13, Fla. Const. ("Provision may be made by general law for bringing suit against the state as to all liabilities now existing or hereafter originating."). In enacting Fla. Stat. § 768.28, the state agreed to be sued in its own courts for tort actions, and in so doing gave the courts jurisdiction to determine whether or not a suit falls within the scope of that statute's limited waiver of sovereign immunity. See Wallace v. Dean, 3 So.3d 1035, 1044 n. 14, 1046 (Fla. 2009); Klonis v. Dep't of Revenue, 766 So.2d 1186, 1189 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000); Hutchins v. Mills, 363 So.2d 818, 821 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978). It thereby voluntarily subjected itself to the "harm" of defending such suits at trial. See Roe, 679 So.2d at 758 ("It is only because of the limited waiver of sovereign immunity in section 768.28 (Fla. 1995), that such a claim may now proceed in the trial court.")

In addition, this Court has recognized that the sovereign immunity

determination is frequently intertwined with the facts. As it observed in denying interlocutory review of sovereign immunity orders in Roe: "Oftentimes, the applicability of the sovereign immunity waiver is inextricably tied to the underlying facts, requiring a trial on the merits. Thus, many interlocutory decisions would be inconclusive and in our view a waste of judicial resources." 679 So.2d at 758. That observation is fully applicable here. The trial court did not reject the County's assertion of sovereign immunity as a matter of law but simply declined to enter summary judgment in light of disputed issues of fact surrounding the shooting, as more fully outlined below. See e.g. Pet. App. Ex. B at 60-61. The assertion of sovereign immunity is a fact-intensive defense. Typically, the trial court must ascertain the facts in order to determine whether the governmental actions at issue are discretionary planning decisions or operational acts. Allowing certiorari review of denials of motions to dismiss or summary judgment in these cases would effectively force trial courts to prematurely determine at the outset, prior to full factual development, where the actions at issue in a particular case fall on the discretionary vs. operational spectrum. And, as noted in *Roe*, 679 So.2d at 758, permitting interlocutory review in sovereign immunity cases would add substantially to the caseloads of the district courts of appeal.

Even with respect to those claims of absolute or qualified immunity for

which interlocutory appeals are authorized, they are not permitted where the trial court denies a motion for summary judgment based on the existence of material issues of fact, rather than as a matter of law. See Fla.R.App.P. 9.130(a)(3)(C)(vii); Murray v. Rosati, 929 So.2d 1090, 1092 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006)("where there are material issues of fact regarding the asserted immunity, they are not entitled to appeal a trial court's decision on a motion for summary judgment"); cf. Reeves, 889 So.2d at 819 (provision permitting interlocutory appeal of denial of workers compensation immunity was not intended to grant right of nonfinal review if lower tribunal denies motion for summary judgment based on existence of material factual dispute); Coastal Bldg. Maintenance, Inc. v. Priegues, 22 So.3d 148 (Fla. 3d DCA 2009)(order denying motion for summary judgment for insufficient evidence to support summary judgment on defense of workers' compensation immunity was "neither reviewable under Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.130 as a non-final order nor under the certiorari jurisdiction of this court"). Here, the trial court did not hold that the County was not entitled to sovereign immunity as a matter of law. It simply declined to grant the County summary judgment on the issue based on the existence of material factual disputes.

The Third District's suggestion that Rodriguez misreads *Roe*, and that his reliance on it is misplaced because *Roe* did not determine the availability of

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