IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC11-1913 (Lower Tribunal Case No. 3D10-856)

JOSE LAZARO RODRIGUEZ,

Petitioner,

VS.

MIAMI-DADE COUNTY,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM A DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

R. A. CUEVAS, JR.
MIAMI-DADE COUNTY ATTORNEY
Stephen P. Clark Center, Suite 2810
111 N.W. 1st Street
Miami, Florida 33128

Telephone: (305) 375-5151 Facsimile: (305) 375-5611

By: Erica S. Zaron

Assistant County Attorney Florida Bar No. 514489

Albert D. Lichy Assistant County Attorney Florida Bar No. 94272

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

where appropriate, would thus not overburden their dockets as Petitioner claims. Pet'r Br. 16.

The fact that there are two demanding hurdles to clear before a case may be a viable candidate for common law certiorari review deflects many would-be petitions for a writ of certiorari. Where review is granted as of right, in contrast, litigants are undoubtedly more active in their attempts to seek a second layer of review. Moreover, district courts of appeal will use their certiorari jurisdiction to reach the merits of a case only upon acceptance that, as here, there is no dispute of fact and the trial court's error is immediately apparent.

Also, unlike the categorical rule the petitioner sought in *Roe*, certiorari review is undertaken only on a case-by-case basis. Thus, in the sovereign immunity context, district courts of appeal reach the immunity question only if the two certiorari requirements are met—review is not as of right. And even then, the district court of appeal can exercise its discretion and deny a petition on its face where, for instance, the sovereign immunity question is too bound up in the facts of the case. In that scenario, the district court of appeal may think it is best to first allow the fact finder to exercise its institutional competency. Thus, contrary to Petitioner's contention, Pet'r Br. 16 (citing *Roe*, 679 So.2d at 758), whether or not the sovereign immunity question is "inextricably tied to the underlying facts, requiring a trial on the merits," is not a concern in the certiorari context because

courts are free to decline certiorari jurisdiction when the facts are too intertwined with the merits.

II. THE THIRD DISTRICT PROPERLY GRANTED CERTIORARI REVIEW BECAUSE THE TRIAL COURT'S ORDER DENYING THE COUNTY'S SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY DEFENSE CAUSES IT IRREPARABLE HARM

Before a district court of appeal may grant a petition for a writ of common law certiorari it must find (1) a departure from the essential requirements of the law, (2) resulting in irreparable harm that cannot be remedied on plenary appeal. *Belair*, 770 So. 2d at 1166. The irreparable harm requirement is jurisdictional and must be evaluated at the outset. *Dees v. Kidney Group, LLC*, 16 So. 3d 277, 279 (Fla. 2d DCA 2009). Only if irreparable harm exists can the court reach the issue of whether the challenged ruling departed from the essential requirements of law. *Id.* Whether the trial court's denial of sovereign immunity qualifies as an irreparable harm is central to this case.

A. Sovereign Immunity Is Immunity From Suit

The historical support for treating sovereign immunity as immunity from suit is undeniable. For over 100 years this Court has been remarkably consistent in its treatment of sovereign immunity as immunity from suit. *See, e.g., Hampton v. State Bd. of Educ. of Fla.*, 105 So. 323, 327 (Fla. 1925) ("[t]he immunity of the state from suit" justified dismissal of a claim for specific performance of a contract entered into by the State Board of Education); *State ex rel. Davis v. Love*, 126 So.

374, 379 (Fla. 1930) (in banc) (finding writ of prohibition appropriate remedy to preclude action against the state road department because the "immunity of the state from suit, which the Legislature may provide for by general law . . . can[not] be taken away by a mere provision incidentally embraced in an act dealing with another subject"); Spangler. v. Fla. Tpk. Auth., 106 So. 2d 421, 422 (Fla. 1958) (affirming dismissal of complaint against the Turnpike Authority because "[a]s a state agency, absent a specific waiver, it shares in the sovereign immunity to suit"); Buck v. McLean, 115 So. 2d 764, 765 (Fla. 1959) ("The immunity of the State from suit is absolute and unqualified ") (internal footnotes omitted); Circuit Court of Twelfth Judicial Circuit v. Dep't of Natural Resources, 339 So. 2d 1113, 1115, 1116-17 (Fla. 1976) (Department of Natural Resources was protected by "constitutional immunity from suit"). The State of Florida's treatment of the issue is not unique. Indeed, the view that sovereign immunity is immunity from suit finds overwhelming support from decisions around the country.⁶

⁶ See, e.g., Pyeritz v. Commonwealth, 32 A.2d 687, 695 (Pa. 2011) ("The Commonwealth enjoys immunity from suit unless the injury in question lies within one of the exceptions provided by the legislature."); Gray v. Va. Sec'y of Transp., 276 Va. 93, 101 (Va. 2008) ("It is an established principle of sovereignty, in all civilized nations, that a sovereign State cannot be sued in its own courts without its consent and permission.") (internal ellipses omitted) (quoting Bd. of Pub. Works v. Gannt, 76 Va. 455, 461 (Va. 1861)); Anzaldua v. Band, 457 Mich. 530, 552 (Mich. 1998) ("The State, as sovereign, is immune from suit save as it consents to be sued, and relinquishment of sovereign immunity from suit must be strictly interpreted.") (internal citation, brackets, ellipses, and quotation marks omitted); Texas Dep't of Transp. v. Jones, 8 S.W. 3d 636, 637 (Tex. 1999) (per curiam)

This Court recently reaffirmed its treatment of sovereign immunity as immunity from suit in *Wallace v. Dean*, 3 So. 3d 1035, 1044 (Fla. 2009). The majority in *Wallace* clarified the distinction between a duty analysis from "whether the governmental entity remains *sovereignly immune from suit* notwithstanding the legislative waiver present in section 768.28 []." *Id.* (emphasis added). In highlighting the distinction, the majority observed that:

the absence of a duty of care between the defendant and the plaintiff results in a lack of liability, not application of immunity from suit. Conversely, sovereign immunity may shield the government from an action in its courts (i.e., a lack of subject-matter jurisdiction) even when the State may otherwise be liable to an injured party for its tortious conduct.

Id. (internal citations omitted) (emphasis in original & added). The majority also explained that prior to the enactment of section 768.28, "courts did not have subject matter jurisdiction of tort suits against the State and its agencies because they enjoyed sovereign immunity pursuant to Article X, [s]ection 13, Florida

__("

("Today we reaffirm that governmental immunity from suit defeats a trial court's subject matter jurisdiction[.]"); *Daughton v. Maryland Auto Ins. Fund*, 198 Md. App. 524, 159 (Md. Ct. Spec. App. 2011) ("The doctrine of sovereign immunity from suit, rooted in the ancient common law, is firmly embedded in the law of Maryland.") (citations omitted); *Bd. of Regents v. Canas*, 295 Ga. App. 505, 507 (Ga. App. 2009) ("Under Georgia law, sovereign immunity is an immunity from suit, rather than a mere defense to liability, and is effectively lost if a case is erroneously permitted to go to trial.") (citing *Grissell v. Hamlin*, 963 F.2d 338, 340 (11th Cir. 1992) (permitting interlocutory appeal of a denial of sovereign immunity since "it is clear that sovereign immunity under Georgia law is an immunity from suit").

Constitution." *Id.* at 1045 n.14 (quoting *Hutchins v. Mills*, 363 So. 2d 818, 821 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978)). Courts obtained subject matter jurisdiction after section 768.28 was enacted for the limited purpose of determining "which suits fall within the parameters of the statute." *Hutchins*, 363 So. 2d at 821. Thus, only as a result of this "limited waiver of sovereign immunity found in the statute," *id.* at 821-22, were litigants able to enter the courthouse door.

Petitioner ignores the overwhelming authority treating sovereign immunity as immunity from suit and the corollary principle that the deprivation of immunity from suit is an irreparable harm. His lone contention is that the Third District's exercise of its discretion to grant certiorari in *this* case is inconsistent with *Roe*. According to Petitioner, *Roe* espoused the far-reaching principle that a district court of appeal is categorically prohibited from exercising its discretion in the appropriate case to review on certiorari a denial of sovereign immunity. Pet'r Br. 11, 12.⁷ In advancing that argument, Petitioner ignores *Wallace* and the fact that *Roe* dealt solely with the interlocutory, not certiorari, review.

_

⁷ Petitioner's premise—that *Roe* eliminates the availability of certiorari review of cases raising sovereign immunity—is fundamentally flawed. Unlike interlocutory review, which deals with categories of cases, certiorari review is determined on a case-by-case basis. *Carroll Contracting, Inc. v. Edwards*, 528 So. 2d 951, 952 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988). It would therefore be inappropriate for this Court to categorically eliminate the availability of certiorari jurisdiction in all cases where sovereign immunity is at issue.

Petitioner's final argument in support of reversal is that the passage of section 768.28 transformed sovereign immunity from suit into immunity against liability only. Pet'r Br. 15. Petitioner's contention turns the history of sovereign immunity and section 768.28's purpose on its head. Section 768.28 did not in any way alter the landscape of sovereign immunity or modify its character as immunity from suit. Its purpose was only to waive sovereign immunity in a narrow category of cases. Where the waiver does not apply, governmental entities remain immune from suit. A brief history of sovereign immunity makes clear Petitioner's error.

The State of Florida formally recognized the doctrine of sovereign immunity in 1822. *City of Miami v. Valdez*, 847 So. 2d 1005, 1006-07 (Fla. 3d DCA 2003). At that time, a citizen's only method of recourse against a governmental entity was through the claims bill process in the legislature. *Id*.

In the 1868 version of the Florida Constitution, the people of Florida granted the legislature the right to waive sovereign immunity upon enactment of "general law." *See Cauley v. City of Jacksonville*, 403 So. 2d 379, 381 (Fla. 1981) (citing Art. IV, § 19, Fla. Const.). Even after that amendment, however, Florida courts decreed the immunity of the State and its agencies to be "absolute and unqualified" in the absence of general law clearly waiving that immunity. *Buck*, 115 So. 2d at 765; *see also Spangler*, 106 So. 2d at 424 ("immunity of the sovereign is a part of the public policy of the state"); *Klonis v. Fla. Dep't of Revenue*, 766 So. 2d 1186,

1189 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000) (observing that the immunity of the State of Florida and its agencies was "absolute . . . absent waiver by legislative enactment or constitutional amendment") (quoting *Circuit Court of Twelfth Judicial Circuit*, 339 So. 2d at 1114)).

This Court repeatedly rejected attempts to repudiate what it referred to as the "ancient" doctrine of sovereign immunity. *See, e.g., Davis*, 126 So. at 377; *see also Circuit Court of Twelfth Judicial Circuit*, 339 So. 2d at 1116-17 (affirming writ of prohibition based on a sovereign immunity defense in torts case because at the time the plaintiffs' child died at a state park, the Florida legislature had not yet enacted section 768.28); *Buck*, 115 So. 2d at 768 (rejecting other opinions that had renounced sovereign immunity as inconsistent with the "established law of this jurisdiction").

It was not until 1973 that Florida exercised its constitutional right—through the enactment of section 768.28—to waive sovereign immunity, yet only in certain, carefully defined instances. Section 768.28 was not a panacea for those hoping that governmental entities could now be subjected to suit for all forms of alleged misconduct. It waived sovereign immunity for tort actions only, and only up to a certain dollar amount. *See Wallace*, 3 So. 3d at 1044 (describing section

768.28 as a "legislative waiver"). Courts have been clear since its enactment to "employ a rule of strict construction against waiver of immunity beyond this amount." *Berek v. Metro. Dade County*, 396 So. 2d 756, 758 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981). Indeed, it remains true that "sovereign immunity is the rule, rather than the exception," *City of Orlando v. West Orange Country Club*, 9 So. 3d 1268, 1272 (Fla. 5th DCA 2009) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted), and that attempts to waive sovereign immunity "must be strictly construed." *Berek v. Metro. Dade County*, 422 So. 2d 838, 840 (Fla. 1982) (citation omitted).

Petitioner advances the misguided contention section 768.28 transformed sovereign immunity into immunity from liability only, and that it thus subjects governmental entities to suit in all cases. Petitioner also overlooks the fact that there are many instances in which sovereign immunity still applies and bars a claim—even a claim that seemingly fits within the waiver. *See Wallace*, 3 So. 3d at 1045, n.14. This is because there are exceptions to the waiver in section 768.28, both statutory and judicially-created, that effectively preempt the waiver and render the sovereign immune when qualifying circumstances exist.

-

⁸ The initial statutory cap was \$50,000 per person, \$100,000 per occurrence. The amount was doubled to \$100,000 and \$200,000, respectively, in 1981. § 768.28(5), Fla. Stat.; *Pensacola Jr. Coll. v. Montgomery*, 539 So. 2d 1153, 1154 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989). The Florida Legislature recently increased the limits to \$200,000, and \$300,000, respectively, effective October 1, 2011.

By way of statutory example, section 768.28(9)(a) maintains sovereign immunity for the acts of individual officials so long as officials have not acted "in bad faith or with malicious purpose or in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety, or property." The statute also exempts from the waiver cases where an individual has participated in a riot (§ 768.28(15), Fla. Stat.), as well as claims for punitive damages (§ 768.28(5), Fla. Stat.).

Likewise, a prominent example of a judicially-created exception to the waiver in section 768.28 was recognized by this Court in *Commercial Carrier Corp. v. Indian River County*, 371 So. 2d 1010, 1012, 1016 (Fla. 1979). There, the Court considered whether discretionary acts of the government were excepted from section 768.28's waiver. The Court observed that "even absent an express exception in section 768.28 for discretionary functions, certain policy-making, planning or judgmental governmental functions cannot be the subject of traditional tort liability." *Id.* ⁹ It thus reaffirmed that section 768.28 did not modify the well-

The County anticipates that Petitioner will seize on the *Commercial Carrier* Court's use of the phrase "traditional tort liability" as support for his position that sovereign immunity is immunity from liability only. Petitioner makes a similar point in discussing the impact of *Wallace v. Dean*, where he notes that the Court alternates between its use of the phrase "immunity from suit" and "insulated from tort liability." Pet'r Br. 22. The simple response to this non-issue is that an entity entitled to sovereign immunity is immune from liability *because it is immune from suit*. Petitioner cites no support for his argument that the *Wallace* references to immunity from liability are intended to be a judicial declaration that there is no longer immunity from suit for governmental entities.

established common law principle that the Florida Constitution's separation-of-powers provision, found in Article II, Section 3 of the Florida Constitution, shields governments from suit when they exercise discretionary functions. *Id.*; *Wallace v. Dean*, 3 So. 3d at 1053; *see also Pollock v. Florida Dep't of Highway Patrol*, 882 So. 2d 928, 933 (Fla. 2004) ("basic judgmental or discretionary governmental functions are *immune from legal action*") (emphasis added); *see also Cauley*, 403 So. 2d at 384 (summarizing *Commercial Carrier*'s holding: "section 768.28 had waived county and state governmental immunity, within the set limits, in 'operation-level' functions, but . . . 'planning' or 'decision-making' levels remained immune').

This Court in *Kaisner v. Kolb*, 543 So. 2d 732, 737 (Fla. 1989) ruled that "governmental immunity derives entirely from the doctrine of separation of powers not from a duty of care or from any statutory basis." Importantly, the Court further noted that the judiciary "is ill-equipped to interfere in the fundamental processes and legislative branches," and that "there remains a sphere of governmental activity *immune from suit.*" *Id.* at 733 (emphasis added).

The concept of preserving immunity for the discretionary decisions of governmental entities extends to the law enforcement forum as well. In this context, officers' use of split-second judgment is akin to the discretionary decisions immunized in *Commercial Carrier*. Courts are particularly careful not to

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